
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EVIDENCE REVIEW ON 
BEHAVIOURAL CHANGE IN 
DEVELOPING COUNTRIES 

Approach paper 
 
 

Samantha Booth, Romina Cavatassi, Benjamin Curtis, Deborah Sun 
Kim, Laurenz Langer, Caitlin Blaser Mapitsa, Promise Nduku, 

Martin Prowse, Jyotsna Puri, Jamie Robertsen, Carina van Rooyen 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

February 2022 
 





 

i 

G RE E N CL I MA T E  FUN D  
I NDE PE NDE NT  E VA L UA T I O N UNI T  

I NT E RNA T I O NA L  FU ND FO R 
A G RI CU L T URA L  DE VE L O P ME NT  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Evidence review on behavioural change in 
developing countries 

 

APPROACH PAPER 
 
 

Samantha Booth, Romina Cavatassi, Benjamin Curtis, Deborah Sun Kim, 
Laurenz Langer, Caitlin Blaser Mapitsa, Promise Nduku, Martin Prowse, 

Jyotsna Puri, Jamie Robertsen, Carina van Rooyen 
 
 

02/2022 
  



 

ii 

CONTENTS 

LIST OF AUTHORS ................................................................................................................... IV 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ........................................................................................................... IV 

A. BACKGROUND ................................................................................................................... 1 
1. Description of the problem............................................................................................................ 1 
2. Why is it important to do this review? .......................................................................................... 2 

B. OBJECTIVES OF THE REVIEW .............................................................................................. 4 

C. METHODS ..................................................................................................................... 4 

1. The overall systematic review design approach............................................................................ 4 
2. Theory of change........................................................................................................................... 5 
3. Intervention/outcome framework for the EGM ............................................................................ 7 
4. Criteria for inclusion and exclusion of studies in the review ...................................................... 13 
5. Searching for evidence ................................................................................................................ 16 
6. Data collection and analysis ........................................................................................................ 22 

D. DISTRIBUTION OF MAIN ROLES ......................................................................................... 28 

REFERENCES ................................................................................................................... 30 

APPENDICES ................................................................................................................ 33 

Appendix 1. Theory of Change (ToC) .......................................................................................... 34 

Appendix 2. Intervention-outcome framework ............................................................................. 35 

Appendix 3. Summary inclusion and exclusion criteria organized using the PICOS (population, 
intervention, outcome, comparison, study design) model ........................................ 42 

Appendix 4. Search terms for each sector ..................................................................................... 47 

Appendix 5. Data extraction tool ................................................................................................... 50 

Appendix 6. Critical appraisal tool ................................................................................................ 56 

Appendix 7. Grading of recommendations assessment, development and evaluation (grade) tool 
(example) .................................................................................................................. 61 

 

  



 

iii 

TABLES 

Table 1. Behavioural intervention definitions ..................................................................... 9 
Table 2. Outcome definitions ............................................................................................ 11 
Table 3. List of targeted databases .................................................................................... 17 
 

FIGURES 

Figure 1. Theory of change ................................................................................................... 6 
 
  



 

iv 

LIST OF AUTHORS 

The authors of the review of the evidence review on behavioural change in developing countries are 
(in alphabetical order by last name): 

FULL NAME AFFILIATION 

Samantha Booth Human Friendly Solutions 

Romina Cavatassi International Fund for Agricultural Development 

Benjamin Curtis Human Friendly Solutions 

Deborah Sun Kim Independent Evaluation Unit, Green Climate Fund 

Laurenz Langer Africa Centre for Evidence, University of Johannesburg 

Caitlin Blaser Mapitsa School of Governance, University of the Witwatersrand 

Promise Nduku Africa Centre for Evidence, University of Johannesburg 

Martin Prowse Independent Evaluation Unit, Green Climate Fund 

Jyotsna Puri International Fund for Agricultural Development 

Jamie Robertsen Independent Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Consultant 

Carina van Rooyen Africa Centre for Evidence, University of Johannesburg 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

Any errors or inconsistencies are entirely the responsibility of the authors. 
 









https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/pb-assets/Campbell%20Policies%20and%20Guidelines%20Dec2020-1608292090217.pdf
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/cl2.1125
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/cl2.1125


https://africacentreforevidence.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Engaging-stakeholders-with-evidence-uncertainty_EM-for-piloting_3-June.html
https://africacentreforevidence.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Engaging-stakeholders-with-evidence-uncertainty_EM-for-piloting_3-June.html
https://gapmaps.3ieimpact.org/evidence-maps/social-behavioural-and-community-engagement-interventions-reproductive-maternal-0
https://gapmaps.3ieimpact.org/evidence-maps/social-behavioural-and-community-engagement-interventions-reproductive-maternal-0






Evidence review on behavioural change in developing countries 
Approach paper 

8 

domains (column attributes), which are divided into subcategories and subdomains respectively. The 
structure of our intervention-outcome framework maps the key behavioural science interventions 
onto outcomes broadly divided into attitudes (intermediate outcome), behaviour (final outcomes), 
development (development results), and impact (socio-ecological systems development including 
human wellbeing). Definitions of the behavioural interventions and outcomes are provided in Table 
1 and Table 2, respectively. 
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Table 2. Outcome definitions 

OUTCOME DEFINITION 

Intermediate outcomes 
(knowledge and 
attitudes) 

Knowledge of intervention Awareness of the intervention and its objectives. 

Take part in intervention Adoption of intervention activities. 

Acquire knowledge Increased understanding of environmental and development related issues. 

Change attitudes Perceptions on the environment and developmental matters. 

Final outcomes 
(behaviour change) 

Start behaviour Resumption of actions/activities following the intervention. 

Increase behaviour Evidence of more actions/activities due to the intervention. 

Decrease behaviour Reducing actions/activities. 

End behaviour To halt actions/activities. 

No change in behaviour No evidence of noticeable variations from the status quo regarding conduct. 

Development results Enhanced equity Inequality often drives unsustainable systems of production and consumption, and many interventions aim to 
share resources in a community more equitably. 

Natural resource 
conservation and 
preservation 

This result could include outcomes such as reduced water use, a reduction in the harvesting of wild plants, 
limiting encroachment on protected areas, or the improvement of soil quality. 

Changed technologies This result includes an evolution in technology used, such as more drought-resistant seeds, improved cooking 
stoves, or water-efficient toilets. 

Improved health While health is not a core sector being included in the review, many interventions in sectors such as water, 
sanitation and hygiene (WASH), agriculture, and transport, have aims of improving health; this is a key 
component of wellbeing. Results could include improved nutrition or a reduction in illnesses linked to air 
pollution or water quality. 

Improved income or 
livelihoods 

The interlinkages between income and ecological outcomes is complex, but many human development 
interventions have an increase in income as a key result. 

Sustainable transport or 
supply chain management 

This result will include transport options that reduce fossil fuel consumption, reduce private vehicle 
ownership, or increase uptake in public transport, strengthen transport management systems, or support local 
suppliers. 

Sustainable waste 
management 

This result will reflect interventions promoting separation at source, reduced packaging, composting, and 
other waste-related practices. 
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OUTCOME DEFINITION 

Socio-ecological 
systems development 
(includes human 
wellbeing) 

Mitigation Shift to low-emission sustainable development pathways (human wellbeing). Examples: 
Increased low-emission energy access and power generation 
Use of low-emission transport 
Reforestation, sustainable forest management, afforestation, agroforestry practices 
Low- or zero-carbon livestock 
Zero or minimum tillage, sustainable rice intensification 
Reduced emissions from buildings, cities, industries and appliances 
Strengthened institutional and regulatory systems for low-emission planning and development 

Adaptation Increased climate-resilient sustainable development (human wellbeing). Examples: 
Increased resilience of infrastructure and the built environment to climate change threats 
Increased generation and use of climate information in decision-making 
Strengthened adaptive capacity and reduced exposure to climate risks 
Strengthened institutional and regulatory systems for climate-responsive planning and development 
Adoption of adaptation options promoted by the intervention (use of climate-resistant varieties, conservation 
agriculture, sustainable rice intensification, rotational plans for pasture and fishery, etc.) 

 
 



https://unfccc.int/process/parties-non-party-stakeholders/parties-convention-and-observer-states
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Table 3. List of targeted databases 

DATABASE TYPE NAME OF DATABASE 

Academic Centre for Agricultural Bioscience International (CABI) Abstracts 

PubMed 

Scopus 

Web of Science (Social Science Citation Index, Science Citation Index Expanded, Emerging Sources Citation Index 

via EBSCO 

Africa Wide Information 

Biological and Agricultural Index 

Business Source Ultimate 

EconLit 

GreenFILE 

Political science complete 

PsychInfo 

Urban studies abstracts 

Waters and Oceans Worldwide 

Supplementary searches7 

AGRIS 

Behavioural Public Policy 

Decision-A Journal for Research about Judgment and Decision Making 

Grey literature African Development Bank (AfDB): https://www.afdb.org/en 

Asian Development Bank: https://www.adb.org/ 

 
7 We will carry out supplementary independent hand searches in two academic journals that are known to be hotspots of behavioural science. The journals are not covered by the bibliometric 
databases above but are identified as being particularly relevant. 

https://www.afdb.org/en
https://www.adb.org/
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DATABASE TYPE NAME OF DATABASE 

Behaviour and Health Research Unit, University of Cambridge, UK: www.bhru.iph.cam.ac.uk/ 

Behavioural Economics in Action at Rotman University of Toronto, CA: www.rotman.utoronto.ca/FacultyAndResearch/ResearchCentres/BEAR 

Behaviour Economics Team of the Australian Government, AUS: www.behaviouraleconomics.pmc.gov.au/ 

Behavior Evidence hub: https://www.bhub.org/ 

Behavioural Insights Team: https://www.bi.team/ 

Behavioral Science and Policy Association: www.behavioralpolicy.org/ 

Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation: https://www.gatesfoundation.org/ 

Campbell Collaboration: https://campbellcollaboration.org/ 

CEEDER: https://environmentalevidence.shinyapps.io/CEEDER/ 

Center for Effective Global Action (CEGA) Research Publications: https://vcresearch.berkeley.edu/research-unit/center-effective-global-action 

Deloitte Insights: www2.deloitte.com/insights/us/en.html 

Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, UK: https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-
affairs 

Environment Agency, UK: www.gov.uk/government/organisations/environment-agency 

Environmental Protection Agency, USA: www.epa.gov/ 

Environmental Evidence Library: http://www.environmentalevidence.org/completed-reviews 

European Commission Joint Research Centre, EU: www.ec.europa.eu/jrc/en 

European Environment Agency, EU: www.eea.europa.eu/ 

Federal Environment Agency, GER: www.umweltbundesamt.de/ 

Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety, GER: www.bmu.de/ 

Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture, GER: www.bmel.de/ 

Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office: https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/foreign-commonwealth-development-office 

Green Climate Fund: https://www.greenclimate.fund/publications 

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-affairs
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-environment-food-rural-affairs
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DATABASE TYPE NAME OF DATABASE 

Green Finance Platform: https://www.greenfinanceplatform.org/ 

Harvard Kennedy School Centre for Public Leadership, Behavioral Insights Group, US: www.cpl.hks.harvard.edu/behavioralinsights-group 

Ideas42: https://www.ideas42.org/ 

Innovations for Poverty Action (IPA) Publications: https://www.poverty-action.org/publications 

Inter-American Development Bank: https://www.iadb.org/en/topics-effectiveness-improving-lives/impact-evaluations-repository 

International Fund for Agricultural Development: https://www.ifad.org/en/ 

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation: 3ie Development Evidence Portal: https://developmentevidence.3ieimpact.org/ 

International Institute for Environment and Development: www.iied.org/ 

J-PAL: https://www.povertyactionlab.org/evaluations 

Millennium Challenge Corporation: https://www.mcc.gov/ 

National Bureau of Economic Research: https://www.nber.org/ 

NSW Government Behavioural Insights Unit, AUS: www.nsw.gov.au/behavioural-insights-unit 

Nudge Lebanon https://nudgelebanon.org/ 

Observatory for Public Sector Innovation (OPSI) https://oecd-opsi.org/bi-projects/ 

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development: http://www.oecd.org/ 

PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, NL: www.pbl.nl/en/ 

Rare: www.rare.org 

The European Nudge Network: www.tenudge.eu/ 

The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: www.fao.org/home/en/ 

The London School of Economics and Political Sciences (LSE), Centre for Analysis of Risk and Regulation, UK: www.lse.ac.uk/accounting/CARR 

The World Bank: www.worldbank.org/ 

Thünen-Institute, GER: www.thuenen.de/ 

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP): www.undp.org/ 

http://www.cpl.hks.harvard.edu/behavioral
https://www.ideas42.org/


Evidence review on behavioural change in developing countries 
Approach paper 

20 

DATABASE TYPE NAME OF DATABASE 

United Nations Environment Programme (REDD+): https://www.unenvironment.org/explore-topics/climate-change/what-we-do/mitigation 

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change: https://unfccc.int/ 

United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO): https://www.fao.org/home/en 

United States Department of Agriculture, USA: www.usda.gov/ 

USAID Evaluations Clearinghouse: http://dec.usaid.gov/ 

World Bank eLibrary: https://elibrary.worldbank.org/ 

 
 
 



https://www.bhub.org/




http://www.bristol.ac.uk/population-health-sciences/projects/robis/
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/1142962/SURE-CA-form-for-SR_2018.pdf
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methodological decisions of the review team. The sensitivity analyses will be carried out by 
adopting a one-way random-effects ANOVA model calculated in EPPI-Reviewer. 

h. Strength of the evidence assessment 
The last research step in the SR will be to conduct a Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, 
Development and Evaluations (GRADE) assessment to report on the overall strength of the evidence 
base and recommendations made based on the synthesis of the review. This step is distinct from the 
critical appraisal step and considers additional factors to assess the overall body of the evidence and 
how much trust can be placed in recommendations that are made based upon it. Appendix 7 presents 
the GRADE tool with hypothetical decisions for illustration purposes. 

D. DISTRIBUTION OF MAIN ROLES 
PROJECT FUNDING, OVERSIGHT AND CO-CREATION 

Dr. Martin Prowse Independent Evaluation Unit, Green Climate Fund, Task manager 

Deborah Sun Kim Independent Evaluation Unit, Green Climate Fund 

Andreas Reumann Independent Evaluation Unit, Green Climate Fund 

Prof. Dr. Jyotsna Puri International Fund for Agricultural Development 

Dr. Romina Cavatassi International Fund for Agricultural Development  

PROJECT EXECUTION 

Africa Centre for Evidence 

Dr. Laurenz Langer Project oversight and management 
Co-PI: Project oversight and management, stakeholder and client engagement, 
finance and reporting, drafting and finalization of outputs and deliverables. 
Research: Mapping and synthesis 
Synthesis method lead: design of all research activities, tools development, and 
research staff training and support where relevant. Lead on formulating inclusion 
criteria, EGM framework development, meta-analysis, GRADE assessment, and 
qualitative comparative analysis if conducted 

Dr. Carina van Rooyen Project oversight and management 
Co-PI: Project oversight and management, stakeholder and client engagement, 
finance and reporting, drafting and finalization of outputs and deliverables. 
Research: Mapping and synthesis 
Advice on adaptation and contextualization of synthesis methodologies in the 
environmental sector 

Prof. Ruth Stewart Synthesis advisor: Ad hoc advice and technical inputs related to complex evidence 
synthesis, climate change and behavioural science issues encountered 

Promise Nduku Research lead 
Research: Mapping and synthesis 
Synthesis specialist: design and conduct of search strategy, screening, data 
extraction, and critical appraisal for both the EGM and the SR. Lead on EGM 
visualization and effect size calculation 

Andile Madonsela Research: Mapping and synthesis 
Research assistant: research support in accessing full-text articles, cataloguing data, 
collating background information, and editorial support 
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Shona Putuka Research: Mapping and synthesis 
Research assistant: research support in accessing full-text articles, cataloguing data, 
collating background information, and editorial support. 

Content experts 

Dr. Benjamin Curtis Subject input related to behavioural science on the following areas: scope of the 
EGM and SR including ToC; inclusion criteria for the EGM and SR; framework 
development for the EGM; reviewing search strategy and output; data extraction 
variables for SR; interpreting synthesis results; output review including approach 
paper, EGM report and SR protocol, and technical report; and stakeholder and 
client engagement. 

Dr. Caitlin Blaser 
Mapitsa 

Content advisor: Ad hoc advice and technical inputs related to complex evidence 
synthesis, ToC development, climate change, and behavioural science issues 
encountered. 

Jamie Robertsen Subject input related to climate change on the following areas: scope of the EGM 
and SR including ToC; inclusion criteria for the EGM and SR; framework 
development for the EGM; reviewing search strategy and output; data extraction 
variables for SR; interpreting synthesis results; output review including approach 
paper, EGM report and SR protocol 

Samantha Booth Content advisor: Ad hoc advice and technical inputs related to complex evidence 
synthesis, ToC development, climate change, and behavioural science issues 
encountered 
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Appendix 1. THEORY OF CHANGE (TOC) 
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Appendix 2. INTERVENTION-OUTCOME FRAMEWORK 

A. INTERVENTION-OUTCOME FRAMEWORK MATRIX 
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B. EVIDENCE GAP MAP VISUALIZATION 
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Appendix 3. SUMMARY INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION CRITERIA ORGANIZED USING THE PICOS 

(POPULATION, INTERVENTION, OUTCOME, COMPARISON, STUDY DESIGN) MODEL 

The tables below present a summary of our inclusion criteria for the EGM and the SR. They are intended for illustration and do not present an exhaustive outline of 
the inclusion criteria. 

A. EVIDENCE GAP MAP 
INCLUDED INCLUSION DESCRIPTION EXCLUSION DESCRIPTION 

Population 1) Studies that focus on behavioural science interventions in: 
a) Non-Annex 1 countries 
b) For primary studies non-Annex Annex 1, and Annex 1 countries (jointly) if analyses 

distinguish effects across the two samples 
c) SRs are included in the EGM either if data is aggregated for non-Annex 1 countries 

relative to Annex 1 or if there is at least a single primary study included that is from non-
Annex 1 countries 

2) English-language literature 
3) Publication date: 2000 onwards 

1) Studies that focus on behavioural science interventions 
in: 

a) Annex 1 countries only for both primary studies 
and SRs 

b) Primary studies with a combination of both non-
Annex 1 and Annex 1 countries if analyses does 
not distinguish the two samples 

2) Non-English language literature 
3) Studies published before the year 2000 
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INCLUDED INCLUSION DESCRIPTION EXCLUSION DESCRIPTION 

Interventions Bi-sectorial focus on the environmental sector and human development sector. 
a) Delivered at any administrative level 
b) Administered to any type of beneficiary (e.g. individual, household) 
c) By any type of actor (e.g. government, non-governmental organization) 

These interventions include the following behavioural tools: checklists; reduce hassles; rules of 
thumb; commitment devices; micro-incentives; group incentives; lotteries; framing devices; identity 
priming; public commitments; social norms; social benchmarking; cognitive behavioural therapy; 
reminders; planning prompts; feedback; active choice; salience (communication); salience 
(experience design); goal setting; defaults 
Studies looking at behavioural science interventions with different: 

a) modes of delivery; doses; durations; intensities; co-interventions 
b) degree of complexity; sample sizes 

1) Interventions not in the environmental or human 
development sectors 

2) Interventions focusing on trainings, capacity building 
initiatives, or farmer field schools 

Comparator Studies that identify a comparison/control group 1) Descriptive/predictive analyses without a clear 
comparison/control group 

2) Methods that do not utilize comparison/control groups 
(e.g. life-cycle assessment) 

Outcomes Outcomes measured at a reasonable time after the onset of intervention following the behavioural 
science intervention leading to changes in intermediate outcomes (change in attitudes), final 
outcomes (behaviour change), development-related outcomes or socio-ecological systems 
development outcomes. A range of outcomes measured at the individual, household, community, and 
company level. 
Outcomes are organized into the following categories and sub-categories: 
1) Intermediate outcomes 
Know of intervention; take part in intervention; acquire knowledge; change in attitudes 
2) Final outcomes 
Start behaviour; increase behaviour; decrease behaviour; end behaviour; no change in behaviour 
3) Development results 
Enhance equity; support resource conservation; changing technologies; improve health; improve 
income and livelihoods; sustainable waste management; sustainable supply chain management and 
transport 

1) Any outcomes not meeting the stated criteria 
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INCLUDED INCLUSION DESCRIPTION EXCLUSION DESCRIPTION 
4) Impact 

a) Socio-ecological systems development 
b) Mitigation; adaptation 

Study design 1) Impact evaluations (experimental, quasi-experimental). For example: 
a) Randomized controlled trials 
b) Difference-in-differences design 
c) Regression discontinuity design 
d) Instrumental variable design 
e) Propensity score matching designs 

2) Systematic reviews 

1) Non-counterfactual impact evaluation designs 
2) Non-systematic literature review 
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B. SYSTEMATIC REVIEW 
INCLUDED INCLUSION DESCRIPTION EXCLUDED 

Population 1) Studies that focus on behavioural science interventions in: 
a) Non-Annex 1 countries 
b) Non-Annex Annex 1, and Annex 1 countries (jointly) if analyses distinguish effects 

across the two samples 
2) English-language literature 
3) Publication date: 2000 onwards 

1) Studies that focus on behavioural science 
interventions in: 

a) Annex 1 countries only 
b) Combination of both non-Annex I and Annex 

I countries if analyses do not distinguish the 
two samples 

2) Non-English language literature 
3) Studies published before the year 2000 

Interventions Bi-sectorial focus on the environmental sector and human development sector. 
a) Delivered at any administrative level 
b) Administered to any type of beneficiary (e.g. individual, household) 
c) By any type of actor (e.g. government, non-governmental organization) 

These interventions include the following behavioural tools: checklists; reduce hassles; rules of 
thumb; commitment devices; micro-incentives; group incentives; lotteries; framing devices; 
identity priming; public commitments; social norms; social benchmarking; cognitive behavioural 
therapy; reminders; planning prompts; feedback; active choice; salience (communication); 
salience (experience design); goal setting; defaults 
Studies looking at behavioural science interventions with different: 

d) modes of delivery; doses; durations; intensities; co-interventions 
e) degree of complexity; sample sizes 

1) Intervention not in the environmental sector and 
human development sector 

2) Interventions focusing on trainings, capacity 
building initiatives, or farmer field schools 

Comparator Studies that identify a comparison/control group 1) Descriptive/predictive analyses without a clear 
comparison/control group 

2) Methods that do not utilize comparison/control 
groups (e.g. life-cycle assessment) 

Outcomes Outcomes measured at any reasonable time after the onset of intervention following the 
behavioural since intervention, leading to changes in intermediate outcomes (change in attitudes), 
final outcomes (behaviour change), development-related outcomes or socio-ecological systems 
development. 

1) Any outcomes not meeting the stated criteria 
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INCLUDED INCLUSION DESCRIPTION EXCLUDED 
A range of outcomes measured at the individual, household, community, and company level 
Outcomes are organized into the following categories and sub-categories: 
1) Intermediate outcomes 
Know of intervention; take part in intervention; acquire knowledge; change attitudes 
2) Final outcomes 
Start behaviour; increase behaviour; decrease behaviour; end behaviour; no change in behaviour 
3) Development results 
Enhance equity; support resource conservation; changing technologies; improve health; improve 
income and livelihoods; sustainable waste management; sustainable supply chain management 
and transport 
4) Impact 

a) Socio-ecological systems development 
b) Mitigation; adaptation 

Study design Impact evaluations (experimental, quasi-experimental). For example: 
a) Randomized controlled trials 
b) Difference-in-differences design 
c) Regression discontinuity design 
d) Instrumental variable design 
e) Propensity score matching designs 

1) Non-counterfactual impact evaluation designs 
2) Systematic reviews 
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METHODOLOGICAL APPRAISAL CRITERIA RESPONSE 

Yes No Comment 

iii. Where relevant, the authors conducted an appropriate 
analysis that controlled for all potential/remaining 
critical confounding domains after matching had been 
applied 

   

iv. The authors avoided adjusting for variables identified 
after the intervention has been administered 

   

v. The treatment and control group are comparable after 
matching/controls have been done. Select one of the 
following: 

No statistically significant differences 
Statistically significant differences 
Negligible descriptive differences 
Significant descriptive differences 

   

Low risk 
of bias 

Risk of 
bias 

High risk of 
bias 

Critical risk of bias Worth it to continue: Y/N? 

 

If randomized control trial, skip I + II (above) and start here. 
Bias due to confounding (because of ineffective randomization) 
Is allocation of treatment status truly random? 
Appraisal indicators 
Consider whether: 

   

i. Eligibility criteria for study entry are specified    

ii. There is a clear description of the randomization 
process and methods are robust 

   

iii. The unit of randomization and number of participants 
is clearly stated (pay special attention to treatment and 
control locations/ balance) 

   

iv. Characteristics of both baseline and endline sample 
are provided15and at endline the treatment and control 
groups are comparable. Select one of the following: 

No statistically significant differences 
Statistically significant differences 
Negligible descriptive differences 
Significant descriptive differences 

   

Low risk 
of bias 

Risk of 
bias 

High risk of 
bias 

Critical risk of bias If critical risk of bias, treat as non-
random study 

 

III. Bias due to departures from intended interventions 
Was the intervention implemented as laid out in the study 
protocol? 
Appraisal indicators 
Consider whether: 

   

 
15 Preferable condition: A RCT with appropriate randomization procedure can be included without showing baseline data, 
as both experimental groups can be assumed to be equal at baseline by design. 





Evidence review on behavioural change in developing countries 
Approach paper  

59 

METHODOLOGICAL APPRAISAL CRITERIA RESPONSE 

Yes No Comment 

 

V. Bias in measurement of outcomes 
Are measurements appropriate, e.g. clear origin, or validity 
known? 
Appraisal indicators 
Consider whether: 

   

i. There was an adequate period for follow up20    

ii. The outcome measure (e.g. employment status, income) 
was clearly defined and objective21 

   

iii. Outcomes were assessed using standardized 
instruments and indicators 

   

iv. Outcome measurements reflect what the experiment set 
out to measure 

   

v. The methods of outcome assessment were comparable 
across groups 

   

vi. Outcome assessors were aware of the intervention 
received by study participants?22 

   

Low risk 
of bias 

Risk of 
bias 

High risk of 
bias 

Critical risk of bias Worth it to continue: Y/N? 

 

VI. Bias in selection of results reported 
Are the reported outcomes consistent with the proposed 
outcomes at the protocol stage? 
Appraisal indicators 
Consider whether: 

   

i. It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate has 
been selected for publication due to it being a 
particularly notable finding among numerous 
exploratory analyses 

   

ii. It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is 
prone to selective reporting from among multiple 
outcome measurements within the outcome domain 

   

iii. It is unlikely that the reported effect estimate is 
prone to selective reporting from among multiple 
analyses of the outcome measurements, including 
sub-group analysis 

   

iv. If sub-group/ancillary/adjusted analyses are 
presented, are these pre-specified or exploratory? 

   

 
20 In many social science interventions, follow-up is not required to coincide with the start of the treatment; further, longer 
periods of follow-up are often required to measure changes. 
21 Subjective measures (e.g. those based on self-report) are likely to have lower reliability and validity than objective 
measures. 
22 Consider only in extreme cases in which preferential treatment is clearly evident; blinding is generally not expected in 
social interventions. 
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METHODOLOGICAL APPRAISAL CRITERIA RESPONSE 

Yes No Comment 

v. The analysis includes an intention to treat analysis. 
(If so, was this appropriate and were appropriate 
methods used to account for missing data?)23 

   

vi. Do the authors report on all variables they aimed 
to study (as specified in their protocol or study 
aims/research questions)? 

   

Low risk 
of bias 

Risk of 
bias 

High risk of 
bias 

Critical risk of bias  

Overall risk of bias: 

 
 

 
23 Usually in clinical RCTs, rare in social science: only rate if conducted. 









 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Evaluation Unit 
Green Climate Fund 

175, Art center-daero, Yeonsu-gu 
Incheon 22004, Republic of Korea 

Tel. (+82) 032-458-6450 
ieu@gcfund.org 

https://ieu.greenclimate.fund 

mailto:ieu@gcfund.org
https://ieu.greenclimate.fund/

	List of authors
	Acknowledgements
	A. Background
	1. Description of the problem
	2. Why is it important to do this review?

	B. Objectives of the review
	C. Methods
	1. The overall systematic review design approach
	a. Evidence gap map
	b. Systematic review and synthesis

	2. Theory of change
	3. Intervention/outcome framework for the EGM
	4. Criteria for inclusion and exclusion of studies in the review
	a. Population
	b. Interventions
	c. Comparison
	d. Outcomes
	e. Study design
	f. Exclusion criteria

	5. Searching for evidence
	a. Search steps
	b. Search databases and repositories
	c. Forward and backward citation searches
	d. Search terms
	e. Combination of search terms
	f. Screening of studies

	6. Data collection and analysis
	a. Data extraction and management
	b. Critical appraisal
	c. Methods for handling dependent effect sizes
	i. Criteria for the determination of independent findings
	ii. Effect size calculations

	d. Visualization of the evidence gap map
	e. Data synthesis
	f. Assessment of heterogeneity
	g. Sensitivity analyses
	h. Strength of the evidence assessment


	D. Distribution of main roles

	References
	Appendices
	Appendix 1. Theory of Change (ToC)
	Appendix 2. Intervention-outcome framework
	A. Intervention-outcome framework matrix
	B. Evidence gap map visualization

	Appendix 3. Summary inclusion and exclusion criteria organized using the PICOS (population, intervention, outcome, comparison, study design) model
	A. Evidence gap map
	B. Systematic review

	Appendix 4. Search terms
	A. Country
	B. Methodology
	C. Interventions
	1. Active choice, commitments and goal setting
	2. Incentives and lotteries
	3. Priming, feedback, reminders and salience
	4. Social norms and benchmarking, rule of thumb
	5. Cognitive behavioural therapy and reducing hassles
	6. Behavioural science concepts


	Appendix 5. Data extraction tool
	Appendix 6. Critical appraisal tool
	Appendix 7. Grading of recommendations assessment, development and evaluation (grade) tool (example)


